0/A 11-5-93

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

SID J. WHITE

116 1992

CHERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

PALM BEACH SAVINGS & LOAN ASSOCIATION, F.S.A.,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 78,922

DEBORAH FISHBEIN,

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH DISTRICT - No. 90-1937

Respondent.

AMENDED

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

PALM BEACH SAVINGS & LOAN ASSOCIATION, F.S.A.

NEIL P. LINDEN, ESQ.
DAVID B. HABER, ESQ.
ROLLNICK, ROSEN & LINDEN, P.A.
ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER, PALM BEACH
SAVINGS & LOAN ASSOCIATION, F.S.A.
133 SEVILLA
CORAL GABLES, FLORIDA 33134
TELEPHONE: (305) 444-7800
FAX NO: (305) 444-3683

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, Palm Beach Savings and Loan Association, FSA, ("Palm Beach Savings"), seeks reversal of a decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, (Deborah Fishbein v. Palm Beach Savings and Loan, 585 \$0.2d 1052 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991)) and reinstatement of a Final Judgment of the Circuit Court of the Fifteen Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Palm Beach County (the "trial court"), which awarded an equitable lien in favor of Palm Beach Savings. The lien was in the amount of three mortgages and real estate taxes paid off by Palm Beach Savings in connection with property on Palm Beach Island, Florida (the "Property" or the "house") where Deborah Fishbein claimed the statutory homestead exemption found in Article X, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution.

a

Palm Beach Savings was the Plaintiff in the trial court, the Appellee in the Fourth District and is the Petitioner herein and will be referred to by name or as the "Bank". Deborah Fishbein was the Defendant in the trial court, the Appellant in the Fourth District and is the Respondent herein and will be referred to by name or as "Mrs. Fishbein". Deborah Fishbein's ex-husband, Lawrence Fishbein, shall be referred to either by name or as "Mr. Fishbein".

The trial court's Final Judgment and the Opinion of the District Court of Appeal appear in the Appendix of Petitioner, bound and paginated separately, and are referred to by the designation (A.). The Record on Appeal is referred to by the

designation (R.). The transcript of the trial proceedings in the Circuit Court is referred to by the designation (T.) although it appears as part of the Record on Appeal in two volumes, pages 1-292. The transcript designations are by comparable pagination. All **bolding** is for emphasis, and all emphasis is added unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

On October 15, 1984, Lawrence Fishbein, while married to Deborah Fishbein, acquired a mansion on Palm Beach Island, taking title in his sole name. (A.1; R.710-712, 713) Thereafter, in March, 1985, Mr. Fishbein executed a quit-claim deed to himself and Mrs. Fishbein, as tenants by the entireties. (A.1; R.615-616, 713) This deed was not recorded.' (A.1; R.713) Mr. and Mrs. Fishbein moved into the Palm Beach house, which became Mrs. Fishbein's homestead from October, 1985 to August, 1988. (T.122; A.1; R.713)

In March, 1988, Mr. Fishbein borrowed \$1.2 million from Palm Beach Savings and secured the debt with a mortgage on the Property. (A.1-2; R.713a-714) At that time, Mr. and Mrs. Fishbein were involved in Dissolution of Marriage proceedings. Mr. Fishbein forged his wife's signature on the loan commitment letter and mortgage. (T.124-125; A.2; R.714). Notwithstanding the forgery, the purported signature of Mrs. Fishbein on the mortgage was both witnessed and notarized. (T.124-125; A.5-6; R.717-718)

The majority of the Palm Beach Savings' loan proceeds (\$933,905.42) was used to pay off three existing mortgages and several year's real estate taxes on the Property. (A.2; R.714) The three mortgages were: (i) a Barondess MacLean first mortgage, which was assumed by Mr. Fishbein when he acquired the house

¹The trial court's Final Judgment states that this quit claim deed was "never recorded." (A.1; R.713) However, the Record reflects that it was ultimately recorded on August 14, 1989, well after the institution of litigation and the filing of the Lis Pendens by Palm Beach Savings. (R.293-308, 594, 615-616).

(R.690-698); (ii) a Ridgeway second mortgage, which was a purchase money mortgage given by Mr. Fishbein at the time of purchase of the house (R.699-703); and (iii) a Florida National Bank third mortgage, which was executed by both Mr. and Mrs. Fishbein. (T.194; R.672-675) In this third mortgage to Florida National Bank, Mr. and Mrs. Fishbein specifically acknowledged the prior liens of the Barondess MacLean and Ridgeway mortgages as being valid first and second mortgage liens, respectively, on the house.' (R.672) The remainder of the loan proceeds (approximately \$270,000) was utilized by Mr. Fishbein to alleviate an immediate cash problem. (A.2; R.714)

а

m

At trial, Mrs. Fishbein did not dispute the execution and/or delivery of the Florida National Bank third mortgage whereby she specifically acknowledged the priority and validity of the prior two mortgages on her homestead (T.194). Additionally, she did not dispute that she held no record ownership interest in the Property until August, 1988 (when she acquired the house as a result of the November 13, 1989 nunc pro tunc Order of Modification entered by the trial court in the Fishbein marital dissolution proceedings). (R.592, 594, 610-612, 627-628)

In August, 1988, the Fishbeins' marriage was dissolved after they entered into a Property Settlement Agreement (the

The three mortgages paid off by Palm Beach Savings were in the following sums: \$205,722.07 on the Barondess MacLean first mortgage; \$158,828.28 on the Ridgeway second mortgage; and \$524,378.86 on the Florida National Bank third mortgage. Additionally, Palm Beach Savings' loan proceeds paid the 1986 real estate taxes of \$16,051.53; 1987 real estate taxes of \$14,464.80; and 1988 real estate taxes of \$14,459.88. (A.6; R.666-671, 718)

"Agreement"), which provided that Mr. Fishbein, within one year, would buy his wife a \$275,000 home in Boca Raton and would pay her an additional \$225,000 in cash. (A.2; R.640-641, 714) As security for his obligations under the Agreement, Mr. Fishbein executed a quit-claim deed conveying the Property to himself and his wife. (A.2; R.641, 714) In return, Mrs. Fishbein gave up her interest in the Property and moved to Boca Raton where she was renting a house with an option to purchase. (R.639-651) Thereafter, Mr. Fishbein neither purchased the Boca Raton house nor paid her the \$225,000. (A.2; R.714)

а

а

Mr. Fishbein defaulted on the loan with Palm Beach Savings and, consequently, Palm Beach Savings filed its mortgage foreclosure action against the Property on December 5, 1988. (R.293-308) After being served with process, Mrs. Fishbein moved back to the Property in December, 1988. (A.2; R.714; T.146-147) In defense

This quit-claim deed was to be held by Mrs. Fishbein's Dissolution attorney and was to be recorded only in the event Mr. Fishbein failed to meet his obligations under the Agreement. (A.2; R.641,714)

During the negotiations for the Property Settlement Agreement, neither Mrs. Fishbein nor her divorce attorney undertook to do any financial investigation or inquiry as to the financial status of Mr. Fishbein. (T.16, 18-20, 22, 183-184 and 188) Mrs. Fishbein's divorce attorney requested and received an executed letter from her acknowledging that she had relieved her attorney of any responsibility for: (1) not pursuing such an investigation; (2) in the event she were to later determine that she could have obtained more than the Property Settlement Agreement provided for; or (3) if the monies collected in the Property Settlement Agreement were somehow of "no value because the security provisions of the Property Settlement Agreement are tenuous." (T.18-20; R.637-638)

 $^{^5}$ This occurred prior to the divorce court's nunc pxo tunc Order of Modification dated November 13, 1989, wherein Deborah Fishbein was awarded the house retroactive to the date of the divorce decree, August 22, 1988. (R.627-628) Palm Beach Savings was not a party to the proceeding to modify the divorce decree.

of the foreclosure, Mrs. Fishbein asserted the forgery and, since the Property was her homestead, her signature was necessary for a valid mortgage under Article X, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution. (A.3; R.309-310, 715) Palm Beach Savings then filed an Amended Complaint asserting an additional count for the imposition of an equitable lien on the Property in the event the trial court deemed the mortgage to be invalid. (R.351-370)

Mrs. Fishbein's Answer to the Amended Complaint asserted the additional defense that Palm Beach Savings was not entitled to an equitable lien because of the forgery. (R.371-373) Thereafter, Mrs. Fishbein filed a Motion to Add Additional Affirmative Defenses. (R.488-489) The trial court granted the Motion. (R.500-501) The additional Affirmative Defense sought to defeat Palm Beach Savings' claims for foreclosure of the mortgage and/or equitable lien on the basis of Palm Beach Savings' negligence in closing the transaction. (R.488-489)

The trial court entered a Partial Summary Judgment in favor of Mrs. Fishbein on the issue of the validity of the mortgage, declaring it to be void. (R.498-499) Palm Beach Savings filed a Motion for Rehearing (R.525-531), which Motion was denied. (R.540) Thereafter, Palm Beach Savings filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Order granting Partial Summary Judgment that had been entered in favor of Mrs. Fishbein. (R.556-570) The trial court

The Motion for Reconsideration was based upon the then recent decision of *Pitts v. Pastore*, 561 So.2d 297, 300-302 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), which decision distinguished void mortgages from those which are merely voidable.

granted reconsideration and vacated its prior Partial Summary Judgment in favor of Mrs. Fishbein. (R.579)

The clerk of the circuit court additionally entered a default against Mr. Fishbein (R.313) and, subsequently, the trial court entered a Partial Summary Judgment in favor of Palm **Beach** Savings against Mr. Fishbein. (R.502-503)

Mrs. Fishbein and Palm Beach Savings entered into a Pre-trial Stipulation acknowledging that: (1) at the time of the execution of the Palm Beach Savings' mortgage, Mrs. Fishbein had no record ownership interest in the Property; and (2) her only interest in the house at the time Palm Beach Savings made the loan was a homestead interest. (R.592, 594)

The trial court entered Final Judgment after a non-jury trial in which the court heard the testimony of various witnesses and reviewed documentary evidence. (T.1-292; R.610-712) The trial court found: (1) that during the Dissolution settlement negotiations, Mr. Fishbein misrepresented to Mrs. Fishbein that the house "... was free and clear of any liens except one being asserted by his mother and sister" (A.1,4; R.713, 716); and (2) that Mr. Fishbein forged his wife's signature on the mortgage to Palm Beach Savings. (A.2; R.714) The trial court determined that Mr. Fishbein's fraud vitiated any intent on Mrs. Fishbein's part

⁷The trial court made its findings of fact based upon disputed trial testimony. For example, Mr. Fishbein testified that: (1) he never made this statement (T.233-236); (2) that he had, in fact, signed Deborah Fishbein's name to the mortgage (T.124-125); and (3) that Deborah Fishbein had knowledge of the impending refinancing on the Property to pay off the prior liens. (T.233-236)

to abandon the homestead when she moved to Boca Raton as well as preventing title, unencumbered by her homestead, from vesting in Mr. Fishbein as of the date of the Dissolution decree. (A.4; R.716) Accordingly, the trial court held that the Palm Beach Savings' mortgage did not attach to the Property upon entry of the Dissolution decree and Mrs. Fishbein's leaving the marital residence. (A.4,5; R.716-717)

a

a

The trial court then addressed Palm Beach Savings' claim for an equitable lien to the extent that its loan proceeds were used to satisfy pre-existing mortgages and tax liens on the Property:

> [Palm Beach Savings] has clearly shown fraud on the part of Mr. Fishbein in obtaining a loan although no fraud by Mrs. Fishbein has been shown....I find that the Plaintiff should have an equitable lien on the property to the extent that its loan proceeds were used to pay the pre-existing mortgages which had attached [to] homestead and the taxes...Additionally, the signature which they relied upon was supported by the attestation of two witnesses and the **seal** of a notary. Lastly, the homestead would have been liable for these pre-existing mortgages and taxes if the Palm Beach Savings' loan had not been

The court factually distinguished Pitts v. Pastore, 561 So.2d 297 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) in its Final Judgment. (A.3-4; R.715-716) The trial court thus concluded that the Property remained Mrs. Fishbein's homestead and that Palm Beach Savings could not foreclose on its mortgage.

procured. Thus, if an equitable lien attaches, Mrs. Fishbein stands in no worse position than she stood in prior to the fraudulent mortgage. 9

а

a

(A.5,6; R.717-718) As a result, the trial court enforced an equitable lien in favor of Palm Beach Savings in the amount of \$1,182,298.09.¹⁰

Subsequent to the Final Judgment, Deborah Fishbein filed a Motion far Rehearing (R.720-725) which was denied by the trial court on June **25**, 1990. (R.726) A timely Notice of Appeal was filed by Mrs. Fishbein on July 18, 1990 (R.727), and Palm Beach Savings filed a timely Notice of Cross-Appeal on July 27, 1990. 11 (R.729-730)

The Fourth District reversed the Final Judgment and disallowed the equitable lien, holding that Palm Beach Savings had not established fraud or other egregious conduct on Mrs. Fishbein's

^{&#}x27;During the trial, Mr. Fishbein testified that he had no available funds to pay off the Barondess MacLean first mortgage. He also testified that he attempted to sell certain assets, but that they were either encumbered by other liens, pledged as security for other loans and/or were unsaleable on an immediate basis. Furthermore, Mrs. Fishbein testified at trial that she did not have the financial ability to make the payments on the pre-existing mortgages. Additionally, one of the pre-existing mortgages had already matured. (T.116, 126, 128, 129, 210)

This amount consists of the payments to satisfy the three mortgages and the 1986-1988 real estate taxes, plus interest, all of which were valid, pre-existing encumbrances upon Mrs. Fishbein's homestead. **See** supra Note 2.

Mrs. Fishbein's appeal asserted that the equitable lien could not be imposed against her homestead. Palm Beach Savings cross-appealed the failure to impose the legal voidable mortgage once Mrs. Fishbein vacated the Property and moved to Boca Raton.

part. 12 While acknowledging that the trial court had imposed the lien on homestead property for "an equitable reason," the Fourth District concluded that the unjust result and/or windfall to Mrs. Fishbein was of no consequence since the homestead protection of the Florida Constitution is not based on principles of equity. 13 14

To the contrary, Mrs. Fishbein filed a Motion for Stay in the trial court on July 18, 1990, simultaneous with her Notice of Appeal. After an evidentiary hearing, the trial court entered an Order on March 18, 1991 reflecting that Mrs. Fishbein could supersede the Final Judgment pursuant Fla. R. App. P. 9.310 provided she posted a bond in the amount of \$445,529.00. In the event she failed to post the bond, the trial court would schedule a clerk's foreclosure sale of the Property.

On March 28, 1991, Mrs. Fishbein then filed a Motion in the Fourth District pursuant to Rule 9.310(f) requesting the Fourth District to stay the sale pending review. Mrs. Fishbein supplemented the Motion for Stay on March 29, 1991. On April 22, 1991, the Fourth District denied Mrs. Fishbein's Motion to Stay the sale pending review and further denied the Supplement to the Motion to Stay.

Based upon the failure to post a bond as required by its Order dated March 18, 1991, the trial court entered an Order on March 29, 1991, scheduling a clerk's foreclosure sale for May 20, 1991. On May 20, 1991, Palm Beach Savings was the successful bidder at the clerk's foreclosure sale.

On June 4, 1991, Mrs. Fishbein filed **a** Renewed Motion for Stay in the Fourth District. Prior to any ruling on that Motion by the Fourth District, the trial court entered an Order on June 13, 1991 denying Mrs. Fishbein's objections to the sale and directing the clerk to issue a Certificate of Title. On June 13, 1991, exactly one year from the date of the Final Judgment, **a** Certificate of Title was issued to Palm Beach Savings. On June 13, 1991, the trial court also ordered the clerk to issue a Writ of Possession. No stay was in effect at the time, a6 Mre. Fishbein had not posted the bond a3 required by the trial court and no stay relief had been granted by the Fourth District.

Thereafter, the Fourth District issued its Order dated June 19, 1991 granting Mrs. Fishbein's Renewed Motion for stay. Palm Beach Savings filed a Motion with the Fourth District to vacate its June 19, 1991 Order, or in the alternative, Motion for Reconsideration. On July 10, 1991, the Fourth District denied Palm Beach Savings' Motion.

¹² The Fourth District cited Isaacson v. Isaacson, 504 So.2d 1309, 1310-11 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) for this proposition, which the District Court held was a mandatory requirement.

¹³ The Fourth District cited this Court's decision of Public Health Trust of Dade County v. Lopez, 531 So.2d 946, 948 (Fla. 1988) for this concept.

In its decision (SeeA.8-17), the Fourth District erroneously states that "the bank proceeded to execute on its judgment, but we stayed those proceedings pending the outcome of this appeal." (A.12)

On September 17, 1991, Palm Beach Savings filed a Motion for Rehearing, Motion for Rehearing En Bane and Alternative Motion for Certification with the Fourth District which was denied on October 24, 1991.

On November 7, 1991, Palm Beach Savings filed a Motion for Stay Pending Review with the Fourth District, along with a Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida. On November 21, 1991, the Fourth District denied the Motion for a Stay Pending Review. 15

After the filing of jurisdictional briefs by Palm Beach Savings and Mrs. Fishbein on November 8, 1991 and November 21, 1991, respectively, this Court entered its Order on May 19, 1991 accepting jurisdiction and setting oral argument.

⁽Footnote Continued)

Mrs. Fishbein filed a Motion in the trial court on June 21, 1991 to Cancel the Certificate of Title and restore her to possession based upon the Fourth District's Order. On July 1, 1991, the trial court denied her Motion to Cancel the Certificate of Title and to restore her possession of the Property.

Accordingly, based upon this Court's order dated December 6, 1991 staying all proceedings in the trial court and in the Fourth District, the present status in regard to the Property is as follows: Palm Beach Savings is in title to and in possession of the Property pursuant to the Certificate of Title and Writ of Possession, both of which were issued on June 13, 1991 after a clerk's foreclosure sale. Neither Mrs. Fishbein nor her children have resided in the property since possession was given to the Bank.

¹⁵Palm Beach Savings also filed a Motion for Stay Pending Review with this Court on November 7, 1991, which Motion was granted by this Court on December 6, 1991. The Fourth District issued its Mandate on December 9, 1991; however, the Mandate was rendered moot by this Court's Order Granting Stay dated December 6, 1991.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

a

In point 1 of its brief, Palm Beach Savings argues that since the turn of the century, courts in the State of Florida have recognized the validity and adaptability to a wide variety of circumstances of the use of equitable liens as a doctrine for remedying injustice. In Jones v. Carpenter, 90 Fla. 407, 106 So. 127 (1925), the Florida Supreme Court defined the doctrine of equitable liens, indicating that the doctrine follows the doctrine of subrogation and is applied in cases where the law fails to give relief and justice would suffer without them. Palm Beach Savings argues that Article X, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution, which provides for protection from forced sale of homestead property, contains a common law exception for equitable liens.

By disregarding the fact that the equitable lien imposed by the trial court was in the exact amount of the benefit received by Mrs. Fishbein, and by ignoring the trial court's finding that Mrs. Fishbein was in no worse position than had the Palm Beach Savings' loan proceeds not satisfied three prior consensual mortgages and tax liens, the Fourth District used the homestead protection as a shield from just claims of creditors and not to ensure a home for a family. The trial court's imposition of an equitable lien was to avoid an unjust enrichment and windfall in excess of one million dollars in favor of Mrs. Fishbein. The Fourth District refused to recognize that an equitable lien can be imposed on homestead property to avoid unjust enrichment. The appellate court reasoned that such liens apply only to those circumstances where fraud or

other egregious conduct is displayed by the party who claims to be the beneficiary of the homestead.

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