OA 11-5-92

~~015~~ 017  
26/10/92

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 8 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By [Signature]  
Chief/Deputy Clerk

PALM BEACH SAVINGS & LOAN )  
ASSOCIATION, F.S.A., )  
 )  
Petitioner, )  
 )  
vs. )  
 )  
DEBORAH FISHBEIN, )  
 )  
Respondent. )  
\_\_\_\_\_ )

CASE NO. 78,922

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALLAN L. HOFFMAN  
Florida Bar No. 131739  
1610 Southern Blvd.  
West Palm Beach, Florida 33406  
Telephone 407/478-7066

Attorney for Respondent.

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The bank has argued that equitable **liens** may be imposed in contravention of the constitutional protection. Several cases have been cited for that proposition. However, examination of them reveals that each has involved improvements to the property that have placed the obligation within the homestead exemptions. They do not hold, either expressly or impliedly, that equity may ignore the plain limitation of Florida's unique and beneficent homestead property right.

Equity principles should not be permitted to override the constitutional protection of homestead. Moreover, in this **case** the failure of the bank to exercise reasonable **care** and caution, after being put on notice to do so specifically, should prevent application of equity. Homestead must be viewed in terms of the fact that homestead protection is based on possession, not record title. The **duty** of the bank to insure that it was dealing with a valid alienation rests on its shoulders. The fraud here was not skillful or derived from any artifice that the bank would have found even difficult to avoid. This is not the **case** of a skillful imposter. No one presented a fake Mrs. Fishbein to a loan officer. The bank wholly failed to inquire of her by making even the most perfunctory inquiry as to her intent to alienate her interest as the wife in this property the bank knew to be a homestead.

If this Court were dealing with two innocent parties, both of **whom** who had exercised diligence and care, the equity would be in Mrs. Fishbein's favor because of the unique nature of homestead property. The failure of the bank to exercise this degree of care

in this transaction, after the notice it received to make certain of the status of the parties' alienation, should dispose of the equity claim. Sound exercise of equity discretion precludes the judgement entered in the trial court where the bank was neglectful in permitting the loan papers to be taken from the bank by Mr. Fishbein. The district court of appeal should be affirmed in reversing the judgment that had dispossed Mrs Fishbein from the homestead. The case can be decided on this ground alone.

Assuming, arguendo, the existence of a rule that the homestead provision can yield to ordinary principles of equity so as to be overruled by a court exercising equity jurisdiction, the unique nature of the homestead protection would prevent its use against homestead property. This case is not one of ordinary property or monies being subject to an equity judgment. This case involves a greater interest, which by constitutional determination serves both the protection of the family as well as the state's interest in protecting the integrity of a family security despite the profligate or dishonest actions of one spouse. The cases hold that to enter a judgment in equity against homestead requires reprehensible or fraudulent conduct on the part of the beneficiary of the homestead. Mrs. Fishbein was found by the trial court to have not been guilty of any such conduct. The cases of *Isaacson v. Isaacson*, 504 So.2d 1309 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), and *Clutter Construction Corp. v. Clutter*, 173 So.2d 761 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1965), hold that such reprehensible conduct or fraud is required on the part of the beneficiary claiming its protection for an equity judgment to be entered to remove the protection of the homestead

protection. Since there was no such conduct on the part of Mrs. Fishbein, the decision below should be affirmed.

Also involved is the constitutional issue whether the homestead property right granted in Art. X, Section 4, Fla. Const., can be avoided by the use of equity when the mortgage is invalid for its failure to comply with the requirement of that section that both spouses join in the alienation. An important fact is that the proceeds were not used to make improvements on the property nor to purchase the property.

We have organized the issues in response to the petitioner's brief by stating the issues as the district court decided them. We have organized our answer to the petitioner's brief into one point of argument with appropriate sub-headings. This answer brief is also intended to constitute a reply to the amicus brief. The petitioner's brief has a Point II which argues that the district court engaged in de novo review. No specific factual finding is asserted to have been substituted at the appellate level. Therefore, it is respondent's position that there is no need for a further response to that point.

## ARGUMENT

WHETHER ARTICLE X, SECTION 4, OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, AND RULES OF EQUITY, PROTECT AN INNOCENT SPOUSE AND CHILDREN FROM HAVING AN EQUITABLE LIEN IMPOSED ON THEIR HOMESTEAD PROPERTY BASED UPON AN OBLIGATION INCURRED BY THE HUSBAND ALONE?

A. EQUITY HAS NOT BEEN USED FOR THE IMPOSITION OF EQUITABLE SUBORDINATION LIENS ON HOMESTEAD PROPERTY.

The bank would have the Court believe that the Court has approved judgments entered by use of a court's inherent equity jurisdiction against homestead property to satisfy obligations of a general nature. Such is not the law as it has previously been interpreted.

The primary case relied upon by the bank, Jones v. Carpenter, 90 Fla. 407, 106 So. 127 (1925), made this clear in stating its holding, 106 So. at 130:

Section 1 of article 10 of our Constitution, after defining a "homestead," attaches to it the following qualification:

"But no property shall be exempt from sale for taxes or assessments, or for the payment of obligations contracted for the purchase of said property, or for the erection or repair of improvements on the real estate exempted, or for house, field or other labor performed on the same."

The funds involved in this litigation were all spent for labor and improvements on the house which appellee seeks to exempt and are clearly within the qualifications to his homestead as above enumerated.

Jones v. Carpenter, did not hold that an obligation which does not come within the exceptions to the homestead can be levied upon in equity. The Court ruled that equity in Jones was consistent with the constitutional homestead right. The case did not hold

that equity could be imposed inconsistent with the constitution. In fact, the Court said just the opposite in that opinion, 106 So. at 130:

A homestead in this country is for the benefit of the family, where it can be sheltered and live beyond the reach of financial reverses. It is one of the issues of our republican government designed to encourage freeholders, those citizens who are the prop and mainstay of all free government. It is designed to keep sacred and inviolate the home for the family regardless of the amount of the indebtedness or the number of creditors of the head of the family. It cannot be alienated except as the law directs, and when the parties are sui juris and dealing at arm's length it is notice to the world of all these facts and more; but it cannot be employed as a shield and defense after fraudulently imposing on others.

The fraud and imposition on others in Jones was the use of stolen money to improve the property. It was the actual improvement to the property with the money in Jones that resulted in the Court's approval of entry the of a judgment against the property in that case.

The case of Butterworth v. Caggiano, Case No. 78-377 (pending), concerned forced sale under Art. X, Sec. 4(a), Fla. Const. The present case involves not only the forced sale phrase, but also the portian that states that no judgment or decree or execution shall be a lien on homestead property except as set forth in Section 4. In relevant part, Article X, Section 4(a) states:

Homestead; exemptions. -

(a) These shall be exempt from forced sale under process of any court, and no judgment, decree or execution shall be a lien thereon, except for the payment of taxes and assessments thereon, obligations contracted for the purchase, improvement or repair thereof, or

obligations contracted for house, field or other labor performed on the realty, the following property **owned by a natural person:**  
[the provision **goes** on to define homestead property]

This no lien phrase is of equal importance. Both are necessary to protect a spouse from being dispossessed **as** a result of the actions or debt of the other spouse. Further, since no lien may be imposed by any judgment, decree or order, the non-joining spouse cannot be forced by a lien encumbrance on the property to pay debts incurred separately by the other spouse at a time of future sale of the homestead. Mrs. Fishbein should not have the burden, nor any spouse, of being required to follow the other spouse around to make sure no **debts** are incurred that could be **liens**, either in law or in equity, against the homestead.

The other ~~cases~~ relied upon by the bank for use of equity have all also involved some specific exception contained in the homestead provision. In LaMarr v. Lechliger, 135 Fla. 703, 185 So. 833 (1939), equity was **imposed** where there was improvement by construction of buildings, along with an expressed intent by both spouses for the other party to have an interest in the property. The Court held the lien in LaMarr to be consistent with a specific exception contained in the homestead provision, 185 So. at 835 that, "It was undoubtedly the intention of both the LaMarrs and the Lechlidgers that, by the construction of the improvements thereon, the Lechlidgers should acquire an interest in the land herein involved..." Thus an equitable lien **was** imposed where a legal obligation had failed because the homestead exemption did not apply to that circumstance.

The same holding is embodied in Sonneman v. Tuszynski, 139 Fla. 24, 191 So. 18 (1939), where the claimant provided labor on the property itself. This was given in return for a promise to provide a home for the rest of her life. This claim was within one of the exceptions to the constitutional homestead protection.

The bank's use of these cases in their argument to **contend** that general equity judgments may be entered in the face of the constitutional homestead provision is incorrect. The Court's precise holdings in the cases involving the homestead provision reflects a close application and **adherence** to the homestead right contained in the constitution, not the allowance of equity judgments to avoid it or to do violence to it.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS CORRECT IN HOLDING THAT EQUITY WAS IN MRS. **FISHBEIN'S FAVOR AND DID NOT LIE WITH THE BANK.**

The bank's failure to determine the status of the wife regarding the proposed lien, which *Mr.* Fishbein had asked the bank to grant unilaterally, should be dispositive of its claim of imposition on creditors. The bank neither used the telephone to discuss the proposed lien with Mrs. Fishbein, who had not come into the bank, nor had the bank sent any representative to the property to check with this known spouse. Not even after the papers were returned by *Mr.* Fishbein did the bank make a single telephone call to the residence to determine if Mrs. Fishbein acknowledged the note. The financial statement of *Mr.* Fishbein shows that at the time the loan was made he had funds available from other sources to satisfy the prior encumbrances (R-629-634). At the time the loan was made Mrs. Fishbein could have required,



through the dissolution court, that Mr. Fishbein use his substantial assets to satisfy the prior liens. By the time Mrs. Fishbein was apprised of the bank's claim, by service of foreclosure papers, Mr. Fishbein had dissipated these substantial assets and her situation was no longer the same.

Homestead is dependent upon the status of possession, not record title. The failure of the bank to check and determine that it had the signatures it knew were required should be fatal to its contention of being victim of an unfair law. See In re: Noble's Estate, 73 So.2d 873 (Fla. 1954), where the Court stated:

The homestead character of a given piece of property depends entirely on the use to which at the time it is being put. We recognized this in Bigelow v. Dunphe, 143 Fla. 603, 197 So. 328,330, where we said that "Homestead character is a matter of use which could be determinable only from the physical appearance as distinguished from the title as ... shown on the records." In that case a mortgagee had attempted to foreclose a mortgage executed by a wife who was a free-dealer. It developed that the encumbered property was a homestead and that the mortgagor was the head of a family so we held that foreclosure could not be decreed. We stated that the condition of title could be learned from the record, but that the use could not, and that it was the use which governed its immunity as homestead.

Therefore, there is support for the position of Mrs. Fishbein that a creditor is on notice to determine not solely from public records but from an inspection of the property itself the status of potential homestead claims. Here, with knowledge of the dissolution proceedings between Mr. and Mrs. Fishbein, and the request by Mr. Fishbein to close the mortgage without her signature, the bank allowed the papers to leave the bank for signature,

yet all the while making not one single inquiry on the property itself or by telephone to the wife. **This is** a failure to exercise reasonable care under circumstances which makes the bank's claim to equity, and the argument that the homestead right is an imposition on creditors, something less than persuasive.

The bank argues that the trial court failed to find the bank negligent. However, the Fourth District's holding is contrary to that argument. The district court found, Opinion, p.5, that "[T]he trial court agreed with Mrs. Fishbein that the Bank was negligent in the manner in which it chose to close the loan...." After discussing the law of homestead that precludes an obligation entered into by one spouse from encumbering homestead property, the district court found that the basis of the judgment was a loan to Mr. Fishbein that "did not fall within any of the exceptions enumerated in **our** state constitution" and consequently the bank was not entitled to execute on the property. (Opinion, pp. 5 - 6).

The district court **found** that courts may impose equitable liens against homestead property only where the beneficiary claiming the homestead protection has been guilty of some fraudulent or egregious conduct. Citing to Isaacson v. Isaacson, 504 So.2d 1309 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), the district court determined **that** the required liberal construction of the homestead protection mandated its result which it stated was "consistent with the well-established principle that exceptions from the constitutional exemption from forced sale are to be strictly construed." Isaacson v. Isaacson, supra at 1311. The trial court, after finding fraud had been employed by Mr. Fishbein, imposed a lien upon, and ordered

sale, of what was then Mrs. Fishbein's homestead to satisfy a portion of the debt.

The bank would have this Court overturn the salutary rule that equity can be imposed against homestead property based on the actions of one spouse while the innocent spouse, not guilty of fraud, suffers the consequence of loss of the homestead which Article X, Section 4, is designed to protect against liens for such debts. Such a result would conflict with the uninterrupted line of cases holding inviolate the homestead property from the actions of one spouse when the obligation fails to come within the exceptions of the constitutional provision.

It is our position that Isaacson correctly erects a barrier against this use of equity. However, the constitutional protection as previously interpreted would seem to cause doubt that even Isaacson's exception could be applied to permit a lien on homestead property against one spouse for another spouse's misdeeds. The Court in Clutter Construction Corp. v. Clutter, 173 So.2d 761 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1965), followed the Isaacson ruling to again prevent an equitable lien without the claimant establishing fraud or reprehensible conduct. Where was Mrs. Fishbein's reprehensible conduct? There was none.

Clutter's citation to Isaacson illuminates its holding to some extent. The bank seems to find fault with the limited description of the facts in Clutter. Yet it is clear that the precedent it is applying is as stated in Isaacson. See also, Kitzinger v. Gulf Power Co., 432 So.2d 188 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

Regardless, the equities sub judice are not in the bank's

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